ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Pickens County

Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

AARON VAN HENDRIX,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000208

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

JAN 24 2018

SC Court of Appeals

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the trial court erred in granting the State's request, over appellant's objection, to redact portions of the children's forensic interviews where they alleged their father and his girlfriend were present during sexual abuse, participated in the sexual abuse, and were told about the sexual abuse where this evidence was relevant as it tended to disprove the children's claims because the father testified in appellant's case that if he had known about any abuse, the defendants "would not be here. They would be dead" and its removal violated the rule of completeness?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 9, 2015, appellant was indicted in Pickens County for two charges of first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and one charge of third degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. 573 – 578. On January 25, 2016, appellant was tried along with his co-defendant, Stacy Carol Riden, before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely and a jury. R. 1. Christopher Jones represented the State. R. 1. Richard Warder represented appellant. R. 1. Caroline Horlbeck represented the co-defendant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 556, l. 15 – 557, l. 20. Judge Gravely sentenced appellant to concurrent terms of twenty-five years' imprisonment on the first degree CSC charges and a consecutive term of twelve years' imprisonment on the third degree CSC charge. R. 563, l. 22 – 564, l. 10. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in granting the State's request, over appellant's objection, to redact portions of the children's forensic interviews where they alleged their father and his girlfriend were present during sexual abuse, participated in the sexual abuse, and were told about the sexual abuse where this evidence was relevant as it tended to disprove the children's claims because the father testified in appellant's case that if he had known about any abuse, the defendants "would not be here. They would be dead," and its removal violated the rule of completeness.

In this child sex case, the State's case rested primarily upon the complainants' allegations in their forensic interviews. (State's Ex. 1-4). The children's testimony was summary and brief and the State relied on the forensic interviews for the details of the abuse. Three children, a brother and two sisters, alleged that appellant and his co-defendant, Stacy Riden ("Riden") molested them, often with both participating in the abuse at the same time. R. 141, l. 23 – 206, l. 14. The children were very young at the time of trial: the brother was nine; the older sister was nine; the younger sister was five. R. 142, ll. 5 – 7. R. 168, ll. 7 – 10. R. 195, ll. 21 – 22.

Appellant testified in his own defense and vigorously denied molesting Riden's children. R. 443, l. 13 – 446, l. 6. Appellant was Riden's boyfriend and he moved in with her and her children. R. 442, ll. 15 – 443, l. 16. Appellant lived at Riden's house from January or February 2012 until December 2012. R. 444, l. 19 – 445, l. 2. Appellant moved out because he and Riden "had come to a mutual agreement that it was not working for us." R. 447, ll. 1 – 5. Appellant remembered that the house always had food and power and the utilities were always on. R. 447, l. 17 – 448, l. 2. He did not know if anyone else moved in with Riden after he moved out. R. 448, ll. 3 – 6.

The children's biological father, Mark Lusk ("Lusk"), would sometimes stay at the apartment when appellant lived there. R. 449, ll. 2 – 6. Riden's sister, Jessie, would also stay at the house when she and her boyfriend fought. R. 449, ll. 7 – 15. The solicitor asked appellant if he told the police that "Jessie was kind of crazy." R. 449, ll. 21 – 23. Appellant responded, "To put it lightly, yes." R. 449, ll. 21 – 23. Appellant also told the police that another of Riden's sisters, Jennifer, would "bring guys" to Riden's house. R. 450, ll. 10 – 14.

Riden did not show up for the first day of the trial. R. 401, ll. 10 – 16. She denied that appellant ever molested her children. R. 418, ll. 17 – 419, l. 13. She admitted that after she and appellant broke up her life went "downhill." R. 419, ll. 14 – 16. She began using drugs. R. 419, ll. 17 – 19. Lusk stayed with Riden after appellant left and brought his girlfriend and her two children. R. 420, ll. 8 – 15. Lusk's brother would also come over to Riden's house while she was at work. R. 420, l. 23 – 421, l. 8.

In the videos, the children described various sexual acts, including both Riden and appellant performing oral sex and forcing the children to perform oral sex on them. (State's Ex. 1-4). The children also said that their father and Jennifer witnessed and participated in the abuse. (State's Ex. 1-4). After completing the forensic interviews, their grandparents took them to Disneyworld. R. 162, ll. 12 – 21.

The videos were redacted on the motion of both the co-defendant and the solicitor. R. 92, l. 17 – 114, l. 7. Near the end of the colloquy with the trial judge about the redactions, the solicitor asked that portions of the videos where the children discuss their father's role in the abuse be redacted. R. 111, ll. 3 – 20. The solicitor cited no legal theory to support the redaction of this information. R. 111, ll. 3 – 20. The trial judge said, "Oh, okay. Yeah. I think that would be appropriate to redact back." R. 111, ll. 21 – 23.

Appellant objected. R. 111, l. 24 – 112, l. 5. Appellant argued that what the children claimed about their father was relevant to his defense. R. 111, l. 24 – 112, l. 5. Trial counsel stated, “And I guess when they ask is the father there, you know, the child says the father is there. The father is going to testify he was not there.” R. 112, ll. 1 – 5. The judge originally stated that “Anything to where the children said when something was going on father was there and mother was there” would be allowed because it was relevant to a charge of unlawful neglect against Riden. R. 112, ll. 6 – 12. The judge then ruled that “just general stuff about the father, I don’t think that would be appropriate on these videos.” R. 112, ll. 13 – 15.

The State originally intended to electronically redact the videos. R. 316, ll. 2 – 13. The electronic redaction did not work. R. 316, ll. 2 – 13. The solicitor was forced to manually stop and start the video. R. 316, ll. 2 – 13. Appellate counsel for both appellant and the State contacted the solicitor concerning what portions were redacted from the video and he provided an affidavit which the parties have agreed shows the times of the videos that were redacted. R. 567 – 573. The entire unredacted videos were admitted into evidence in the trial and have been transported to this Court.

The redacted portions of the videos contain allegations that the father, Jennifer, and Jessie were all aware of the abuse. (State’s Ex. 2, 4). In the sister’s video dated April 11, she states that Lusk was present on an occasion when the abuse occurred, but appellant and Riden quickly put on their clothes to keep them from knowing. (State’s Ex. 2, between 25:30 and 28:38). The children told their father, but he did nothing. (State’s Ex. 2, between 25:30 and 28:38). The sister also told the interviewer that Lusk and Jennifer saw appellant and Riden abuse the children. (State’s Ex. 2, between 34:57 and 39:10). Lusk and Jennifer sat on the couch and laughed while appellant and Riden molested them. (State’s Ex. 2, between 34:57 and 39:10).

The father and Jennifer also began abusing the children because they thought it was funny to copy appellant and Riden. (State's Ex. 2, between 34:57 and 39:10). The forensic interviewer asked the sister why she did not report the father's abuse in an earlier interview and the child said she forgot. (State's Ex. 2, between 34:57 and 39:10). The child said Riden was also touching the children with the father and they thought it was funny. (State's Ex. 2, between 45:35 and 45:53).

In the redacted portions of the brother's forensic interview, the interviewer asks if the father was there during the abuse and the child says he was standing there watching. (State's Ex. 4, between 49:25 and 52:40). The father did not participate in the abuse, but watched and laughed. (State's Ex. 4, between 49:25 and 52:40). Jessie also witnessed appellant and Riden abuse the children. (State's Ex. 4, between 49:25 and 52:40). The father witnessed more than one instance of abuse. (State's Ex. 4, between 49:25 and 52:40).

Appellant called the father, Mark Lusk, as his first witness. R. 424, ll. 4 – 5. Lusk testified that he never saw any abuse at Riden's house. R. 426, ll. 9 – 11. Lusk found a drug needle at Riden's house after appellant moved. R. 426, l. 12 – 427, l. 9. He never saw appellant use drugs. R. 427, ll. 13 – 16. After appellant moved out, Lusk said the conditions in the house went "Downhill." R. 427, l. 17 – 21. The power and water were turned off, there was not much food in the house, and the "furniture was just piled in the living room." R. 428, ll. 1 – 6. Lusk asked Riden's mother to take the children. R. 428, ll. 7 – 22. When Riden's attorney asked whether Lusk and appellant were on such good terms that they would get into bed together, Lusk replied "Hell no. Excuse my language but, no." R. 436, ll. 9 – 12. Lusk emphatically testified about what would have happened if he had known or seen any abuse of his children: "They would not be here. They would be dead." R. 429, ll. 5 – 8.

The court erred in excluding the portions of the video in which the children claim the father was involved in the abuse. The children's claims were relevant, and therefore admissible. Rule 401, SCRE. "Relevant evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Rule 401, SCRE. The fantastic claim that Lusk participated and watched the abuse of his children by another man made the children's allegations less credible. Furthermore, the children's claims made the father an important witness. Whether he witnessed the abuse was at issue in this trial and the jury was entitled to compare the credibility of Lusk against the children's allegations. Because appellant testified and denied the abuse, the children's credibility was the central matter in the trial. State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016) (reversing in a sex case because it "hinged on credibility").


The children also contradicted their interviews in their trial testimony. The brother said, "I don't think so," when he was asked if his father was present when the abuse occurred. R. 165, ll. 5 – 11. He denied that his father was present and laughing during the abuse. R. 165, ll. 14 – 19. When the older sister was asked if her father was there, she replied, "He was but he didn't see this ever happen." R. 185, ll. 8 – 14. She also denied that her father brought his girlfriend to the house. R. 186, ll. 6 – 8. The children's contradictory statements on the videos certainly would have affected their credibility.

Furthermore, excluding these portions of the videos violates the rule of completeness and impaired appellant's defense. Rule 106, SCRE. "When a writing, or recorded statement, or part thereof is introduced by a party, an adverse party may require the introduction at that time of any other part or any other writing or recorded statement which ought in fairness to be considered

contemporaneously with it.” Rule 106, SCRE. See also State v. Cabrera-Pena, 361 S.C. 372, 605 S.E.2d 522 (2004). The Court in Cabrera-Pena ruled that the exclusion of favorable portions of a defendant’s recorded statement when unfavorable portions were admitted violated “fundamental fairness.” Id. at 379, 605 S.E.2d at 525. The same reasoning applies to appellant’s case. The redaction of the children’s more fantastic claims—that essentially their mother, father, mother’s boyfriend, and father’s girlfriend all participated in sex acts with these children at the same time—rendered the children’s remaining claims more believable. This Court should reverse.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse appellant's convictions and remand this case for a new trial.



David Alexander  
Appellate Defender