ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County
Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-000208

RECEIVED
JAN 22 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

AARON VAN HENDRIX,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County

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

ARGUMENT

Appellant's appellate challenge to the trial judge's decisions regarding the redaction of the forensic interview recordings was not properly preserved for appellate review because the specific arguments Appellant is currently asserting on appeal were never presented to or ruled upon by the trial judge and are vastly different from the arguments and statements actually made by defense counsel during trial.

Appellant contends the trial judge committed reversible error by ordering the redaction of the portions of one of the forensic interview recordings in which “the children claim[ed] the father was involved in the abuse.”¹³ In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the evidence of Lusk's abuse of the children was relevant because it was “fantastic” and, thus, made the children's allegations less credible. Additionally, Appellant maintains the question of whether Lusk “witnessed the abuse” was at issue during trial, and, therefore, the jury was entitled to compare Lusk's credibility to the credibility of the children. Furthermore, Appellant maintains the exclusion of the challenged portions of the forensic interview recordings violated the rule of completeness and impaired his defense due to the fact the children's “more fantastic claims” were redacted. Importantly though, none of those arguments was raised to the trial judge. Instead, during trial, defense counsel moved for the exclusion of all the forensic interview recordings in their entirety and sought the redaction of multiple portions of the recordings, including portions related to the victims' father's action, before indicating he believed portions establishing the victims claimed their father was “there” during the abuse were relevant to Appellant's defense and should be played for the jury. Significantly, at that point, the trial judge **agreed** for the portions establishing the victims stated their father was present during the abuse to be played for the jury, and Appellant's defense counsel did not raise any further objections or

¹³ Although Appellant appears to be suggesting “the children” collectively claimed their father participated in the abuse, Victim 2 was the only one of the children to ever make such a claim at any point during the forensic interviews. (State's Ex. # 1; State's Ex. # 2; State's Ex. # 3; State's Ex. # 4; State's Ex. # 5).

arguments. Under those circumstances, the trial judge responded to the arguments actually raised by Appellant's defense counsel during trial and granted the relief that defense counsel sought, and Appellant's defense counsel acquiesced in the trial judge's ruling. As a result and because the appellate arguments Appellant is now seeking to raise on appeal were never presented to the trial judge, Appellant's appellate challenge to the trial judge's decisions regarding the redaction of the recordings was not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot appropriately be considered or addressed for the first time on appeal. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Trial judges have considerable discretion in ruling on the admission or exclusion of evidence, and an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge's ruling on evidentiary matters absent a clear abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) ("The appellate court reviews a trial judge's ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court."); State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995) ("A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice."); see also State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 556, 698 S.E.2d 572, 587 (2010) ("[D]eference is due to the trial court's admission of the evidence."). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000).

ANALYSIS

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). The key purpose of those requirements is “to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). Significantly, the application of issue preservation requirements ensures the trial court has an opportunity “to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and **arguments.**” I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (emphasis added).

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review pursuant to our issue preservation requirements, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see also JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 185 (3rd ed. 2016) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial judge, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005).

Regarding the requirement for sufficient specificity, an issue must be raised in a sufficiently specific manner to call attention to the **exact error** to the trial court. State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005); see State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (“[A]n objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus

the precise nature of the alleged error so **it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge.**” (emphasis added)). Importantly, “[a] party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it[.]” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003).

However, in order for an issue to be preserved for review, “it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground.” Id. Critically, “[w]here an objection and the ground therefor is not stated in the record, there is no basis for appellate review.” State v. Morris, 307 S.C. 480, 485, 415 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct. App. 1991); see State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970) (“It is well settled that an issue which has not been presented to or passed upon by the trial judge will not be considered on appeal.”).

Moreover, in order for an issue to properly be preserved for appellate review, a party cannot raise one argument in support of an issue at trial and then raise a different argument in support of that issue to the appellate court. State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989); see State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal.”). Significantly, on appeal, an appellant is limited **solely** to the grounds raised at trial. See State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”).

In the case sub judice, Appellant is contending on appeal the trial judge reversibly erred by redacting portions of the one of the recordings of the victims’ forensic interviews in which the victims claimed their father was involved in the sexual abuse. In seeking a reversal of his conviction on that basis, Appellant maintains: (1) the children’s “fantastic” claims regarding abuse perpetrated by their father were relevant to their credibility; (2) those claims were relevant

to the question of whether Lusk witnessed the abuse; and (3) the exclusion of those claims violated the rule of completeness and impaired his defense in light of their “fantastic” nature.

However, during trial, Appellant’s defense counsel did **not** raise a specific objection to the trial judge’s decision to redact the portion of Victim 2’s second forensic interview recording in which Victim 2 indicated Lusk and Riden’s sister also engaged in the sexual abuse. Similarly, Appellant’s defense counsel did **not** raise an objection to the redaction of any part of the forensic interview recordings pursuant to the rule of completeness. Likewise, Appellant’s defense counsel did **not** argue to the trial judge Victim 2’s statements related to her father’s and Riden’s sister’s participation in the sexual abuse were significant to Appellant’s defense based on their relevance to the children’s credibility or based on their allegedly “fantastic” nature.

Instead, during the course of trial, Appellant’s defense counsel merely raised an unsuccessful objection to the admission of all the forensic interview recordings in their entirety on grounds totally unrelated to Lusk’s actions before successfully seeking and obtaining – through his request to be considered to have joined in all Riden’s counsel’s motion and objections unless expressly stated otherwise – the redaction of various portions of the forensic interview recordings, including portions directly related to Lusk.¹⁴ Aside from that, the only other action on the part of Appellant’s defense counsel related to the trial judge’s decisions regarding the redaction of the forensic interview recordings came in response to the solicitor’s request for the portion of one of the forensic interview recordings that contained Victim 2’s statements about her father’s participation in the sexual abuse to be also redacted. Specifically, when the solicitor made that particular request and the trial judge indicated he agreed with it,

¹⁴ Notably, Appellant is **not** pursuing on appeal defense counsel’s trial objection to the admission of all the forensic recordings in their entirety and, therefore, has abandoned that particular objection for appellate purposes. See State v. Sampson, 317 S.C. 423, 427, 454 S.E.2d 721, 723 (Ct. App. 1995) (finding unchallenged and unappealed rulings are the law of the case).

Appellant's defense counsel responded by asserting an unspecified "part" of the matter the trial judge was redacting related to Lusk "seem[ed]" to be relevant to Appellant's defense before identifying the part he perceived to be significant to the defense as the part in which the children indicated Lusk was merely **present** at the time of the abuse. At that point, the trial judge specifically indicated he was going to allow the matter Appellant's defense counsel had just identified as significant, which was any part in which the children said their father was present "when something was going on," and defense counsel did not raise any further objections when presented with the opportunity to do so. Thus, the trial judge agreed to allow the presentation of the portions of the forensic interview recordings Appellant's defense counsel identified as pertinent to the defense, and Appellant's defense counsel acquiesced in that ruling in light of the fact he made no further requests for relief or arguments related to the trial judge's redaction decisions. See Ex parte McMillan, 319 S.C. 331, 335, 461 S.E.2d 43, 45 (1995) (finding a party cannot acquiesce to a ruling on an issue during trial and then complain of an error with the issue on appeal); see also State v. Parris, 387 S.C. 460, 465, 692 S.E.2d 207, 209 (Ct. App. 2010) ("When the defendant receives the relief requested from the trial court, there is no issue for the appellate court to decide.").

Because Appellant's defense counsel did not raise **any** of the arguments Appellant is now attempting to raise on appeal, the trial judge judge was wholly denied an opportunity to consider, address, or rule upon those arguments in deciding the evidentiary issues involved in the trial. See Queen's Grant, 368 S.C. at 372-373, 628 S.E.2d at 919 ("Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review." (citations omitted)). Critically, without first giving the trial judge an opportunity to consider his claims regarding the redaction of the forensic

interview recordings and the applicability of the rule of completeness, Appellant is precluded from raising such claims for the first time on appeal. See State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 424, 706 S.E.2d 16, 20 (2011) (“This argument . . . was not raised to the trial judge; therefore, the issue is not preserved for appellate review.”); see also I’On, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724 (“The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred.”); cf. State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 156-157, 526 S.E.2d 228, 231 (2000) (finding Benton’s challenge to the trial judge’s refusal to give a requested charge was not preserved for appellate review where Benton “argued one ground in support of a circumstantial evidence charge at trial (State only presented circumstantial evidence of intent) and argues another ground in support of the charge on appeal (palm print is circumstantial evidence).”); Adams, 354 S.C. at 380, 580 S.E.2d at 795 (declining to address one of the grounds raised on appeal in support of Adams’ mistrial motion when that particular ground was never presented to the trial judge). As a result, Appellant’s appellate challenge to the trial judge’s ruling on the redaction of the forensic interview recordings is not properly preserved for appellate review and simply cannot appropriately be raised or addressed for the first time on appeal. See In re Walter M., 386 S.C. 387, 392, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review.”); see also State v. Head, 330 S.C. 79, 87, 498 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 1997) (instructing an appellate court “cannot address unpreserved errors”); cf. State v. Gullledge, 321 S.C. 399, 404-405, 468 S.E.2d 665, 669 (Ct. App. 1996) (“Gullledge . . . argues the State did not prove she had the resources to pay \$210,000.00 in restitution and the trial court failed to state its findings and the underlying facts and circumstances of

them. Because this argument was neither raised to nor addressed by the trial court, we need not deal with it.” (citation omitted)). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.¹⁵

¹⁵ Because Appellant’s defense counsel wholly failed to raise the arguments Appellant is now raising on appeal, the trial judge obviously never ruled upon those particular arguments, which makes it somewhat difficult to respond to or address the merits of Appellant’s appellate claims. See State v. Stone, 376 S.C. 32, 36, 655 S.E.2d 487, 488-489 (2007) (“Because Appellant did not argue these grounds in support of his objection at trial, Appellant’s argument is not preserved for review. . . . **If a pitch was never thrown at trial, we cannot review whether the trial court made the proper call.**” (emphasis added)); see also State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 379, 204 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1974) (“Only matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed[.]”). However, in light of the fact the jury was tasked with determining whether the State had proven beyond a reasonable doubt Appellant and Riden had sexually abused the victims as opposed to whether Lusk or some other party had **also** sexually abused the victims, the trial judge could have potentially excluded the portion of the lone forensic interview recording containing a reference to abuse committed by Lusk on a variety of different grounds, including on the ground it could have served to confuse the jury about the actual issues that needed to be resolved during the trial. See State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009) (instructing evidence, including relevant evidence, must be excluded from trial if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice); State v. Williams, 409 S.C. 455, 466, 761 S.E.2d 770, 777 (Ct. App. 2014) (“[T]he evidence could have confused the issues at trial or misled the jury as to the sexual misconduct in question.”); State v. Oglesby, 384 S.C. 289, 294, 681 S.E.2d 620, 622 (Ct. App. 2009) (instructing Rule 106 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence only requires the admission of “that portion of the remainder of any statement which explains or clarifies the previously admitted portion”); see also State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 593-594 (Ct. App. 2001) (“A trial judge’s balancing decision under Rule 403 should not be reversed simply because an appellate court believes it would have decided the matter otherwise because of a differing view of the highly subjective factors of the probative value or the prejudice presented by the evidence. If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.” (citations omitted)), overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). Moreover, to the extent that portion of the recordings was pertinent to the impeachment of the victims’ testimony, the portions of the recordings Appellant’s defense counsel identified to the trial judge as being pertinent to the issue of impeachment were, in fact, played for the jury and the jury heard the victims state Lusk observed the sexual abuse during their forensic interviews while also hearing the victims’ and Lusk’s trial testimony indicating the opposite was true, which rendered any error in the exclusion of the evidence Appellant now contends on appeal would have had additional impeachment value insignificant and harmless. See State v. Sinclair, 275 S.C. 608, 610, 274 S.E.2d 411, 412 (1981) (“Inasmuch as the appellant obtained the only relief he sought, this court has no issue to decide.”); see also State v. Gunn, 313 S.C. 124, 137-138, 437 S.E.2d 75, 82 (1993) (instructing “[t]he exclusion of impeaching evidence is not prejudicial where it has no meaningful impact on a witness’s credibility” and finding no error in the exclusion of impeachment evidence during the trial of Gunn and his co-defendants in light of the abundance of other impeachment evidence that existed in the case); Duncan v. State, 281 S.C.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.